
SOUTHWEST CONSOLIDATED ZONING BOARD 
Johnson County Administration Building 

111 South Cherry Street 
Olathe, Kansas 

 
MINUTES 

Wednesday, August 26, 2020  
6:00 p.m. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
A regular meeting of the Southwest Consolidated Zoning Board of Johnson County, Kansas, was 
convened at 6:17 p.m. on Wednesday, August 26, 2020, and was called to order by Darren Shafer, 
Chairman, with the following members present and participating; to-wit: David Wolf, Randy Hutchins, 
Henry Deters, Jason Cooper and Teri Atwell. Absent were: John De Grande, JP Lefmann and Dustin 
Calvin. Also in attendance were Pamela Hayhow, Diane Wicklund and Sean Pendley, Johnson County 
Planning Department, and Anoush Fardipour, Johnson County Building Official.   
II. AGENDA ITEMS: 

A. Add, Delete, or Revise, and Approve Agenda Items [none] 
B. Disclosure of conflicts of interest [none] 
C. Disclosure of external contacts/discussions [none] 

III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Chairman Shafer: Has everybody had a chance to review the minutes from May 6, 2020? Do I have a 
motion for approval, or is there any discussion on those?   
Motion by Mr. Cooper, seconded by Mr. Wolf, to approve the minutes from the May 6, 2020, Zoning 
Board meeting. Motion passed unanimously. 

IV. BOARD REPORTS 
Chairman Shafer: Board reports, Board of County Commissioners actions?  
Ms. Hayhow: It’s been a while since you guys met. I think it looks like May. At that meeting, you 
recommended approval of a final plat for 12 lots of Mulberry Hill Estates on the northeast corner of 151st 
and Gardner Road, and also approval of the preliminary and final plat for three lots of Perrins Four 
Corners Road Subdivision on the west side of Four Corners Road, between 159th and 167th. Both of 
those applications went to the Board of County Commissioners and were approved on June 4th.  
Chairman Shafer: Thank you. I’m unsure – have we had any Planning Commission activities?  
[Unidentified Speaker]: No.  
Chairman Shafer: Okay, we’ll move ahead to Business Before the Board.  
V. BUSINESS BEFORE THE BOARD    

A. Application Nos. SW 20-59-REZ, 20-60-FDP, and 20-65-CUP (GA) Rezoning, Final 
Development Plan (Replat), and Conditional Use Permit - 21285/21365 Moonlight Road 
Kirk Harlow, applicant/landowner, requesting rezoning from RUR, Rural District, to PRUR, 
Planned Rural District; Final Development Plan (Replat) for 2 residential lots (Harlow Farms 
II); and Conditional Use Permit for oversized accessory building, on 20 acres, in Section 18, 
Township 15, Range 23. 
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Chairman Shafer: Planning Office presentation?  

Ms. Hayhow: Certainly. I’d like to enter the staff report dated August 19th into the record and give a very 
brief summary. The subject property is 21 acres, located on the east side of Moonlight Road, just north of 
215th Street. It is currently platted as two ten-acre-plus sized lots, Lots 3 and 4 of Harlow Farms. Each lot 
is developed with a single family home and detached accessory buildings. There are three ponds on the 
property, that you can see, two of which straddle the shared lot line between Lots 3 and 4. The applicant 
owns Lot 3 and is representing the family estate for Lot 4. The estate would like to sell the home, detached 
building and pond developed on roughly the front five acres of Lot 4. They would like to have full ownership 
and maintenance responsibility for the two ponds, which currently straddle the property line between Lots 
3 and 4. To accomplish that, the applicant is requesting the property be rezoned to the PRUR zoning 
district – that’s the Planned district – because it allows more flexibility in the size and configuration of the 
lots than the current RUR zoning. The PRUR zoning district is not appropriate for all properties, but when 
there are physical characteristics, or since the natural areas to be preserved, such as these two ponds, 
or in cases maybe flood plain, the flexibility of the Planned District can be appropriate. The applicant is 
requesting a replat of the lots to increase the size of Lot 3 to around 16 acres, and to decrease the size of 
Lot 4 to around five acres, as shown on the final development plan.  

The yellow line outlines the proposed Lot 3, and the remainder here upfront would be proposed Lot 4. 
There are no new lots proposed, so the overall density will remain one dwelling per ten acres, the same 
as what’s allowed in the RUR district. There are no changes proposed to the lot widths or the street 
frontage. Both lots have more than 330 feet of frontage, and both have a single driveway out to Moonlight 
Road.  

If the development plan is approved, the existing barn on Lot 4 will be oversized for the smaller five-acre 
size property. It would be over by about 2,400 square feet, or roughly 54 percent larger than what’s allowed 
by right. The applicant is also requesting a CUP, which would allow the existing barn to remain.  

In summary, this is request for rezoning 21 acres from RUR to PRUR, a final development plan, and the 
replat of two 10-plus-acre sized lots into a 16-acre lot and a 5-acre lot and a CUP for an oversized 
accessory building. Staff reviewed the request for compliance with the minimum infrastructure 
requirements. One waiver is required, and that is because the PRUR district is written to encourage the 
construction of internal streets for new subdivisions, and that also allows extra bonus density, and direct 
access is not permitted onto CARNP-designated arterial roadways from the PRUR district. For these 
applications, the overall density would not change, and there would be no change in how the lots are 
currently accessed. Both lots currently meet the minimum frontage requirements to have a driveway on 
Moonlight, and staff is recommending approval of that waiver.  

Staff reviewed the applications in regard to the Subdivision Regulations, the Comprehensive Plan and 
Golden Criteria. The uses allowed in the PRUR district are the same as what is allowed in the RUR district. 
The RUR district is what the lots completely surrounding this property are zoned. Because there are no 
new lots and the density would remain the same, the rezoning and the final development plan were found 
to be consistent and compatible with the uses of zoning of neighboring properties. The barn has remained 
consistent and compatible with the rural character of the neighborhood.  
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Staff recommends approval of what has been requested by the applicant, subject to the few stipulations 
listed on page 12 of the staff report and for the reasons listed on page 13. I will go over a few of those. 
There are physical characteristics and natural resources which are unique to the subject property. The 
flexibility of the Planned district allows lots to be reconfigured in a pattern which defines the ownership 
and maintenance responsibilities and preserves the ponds on the property. The final development plan 
would not create a density above what is already allowed in the standard RUR district. The final 
development plan is a replat of two existing lots, which already have existing driveways on Moonlight 
Road. There is no change, so the waiver to allow direct access to a CARNP-designated arterial would not 
endanger the occupants or pose a threat to the health, safety or general welfare of nearby properties, or 
the community at large. There is no proposed change in the size of the existing barn, which has been 
compatible with the rural character of the neighborhood for more than 34 years. With that, I conclude my 
presentation and stand for any questions you have for staff. Also, the applicant, Kirk and Lori Harlow, are 
in the audience tonight.  

Chairman Shafer: Do any members of the Board have any questions for Ms. Hayhow?  

Mr. Hutchins: I do have one question. Would we be approving a CUP for the oversized building tonight 
then, as well?  

Ms. Hayhow: That’s what they are requesting, and that is one of the motions that I recommend as well.  

Mr. Hutchins: Okay. A follow-up question is, is there something that we can do to approve something more 
permanent so there’s no issues down the road, given the fact that this is an existing infrastructure, to 
where they don’t have to worry about coming back or getting disapproved in the future?  

Ms. Hayhow: There’s not a way to do that permanently, but you can suggest a longer term. Staff is 
recommending a ten-year term, because that’s the standard term on initial CUP applications, but you are 
welcome to recommend a longer term. If you do that, please provide some reasons why that would be 
appropriate.  

Mr. Hutchins: Okay.  

Chairman Shafer; Just one quick question. On this proposed five-acre lot, in the future, since that falls 
below the ten-acre limit, they would have to get approval for farms animals and things like that, correct?  

Ms. Hayhow: There are restrictions on the animals you can keep when it’s a smaller property. But again, 
if the animals are deemed to be agricultural, we don’t have any governance on that.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay.  

[Unidentified Speaker]:  It’s still Rural, right?  

Ms. Hayhow: It’s not necessarily zoning at that point. It’s the agricultural determination.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you. Any further questions for Ms. Hayhow? [none]. At this time, the 
applicant may make a presentation if he would like. You don’t have to if you agree with what Planning staff 
has presented. That’s okay, too.  
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Kirk Harlow: We’re good.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay. Does the Zoning Board have any questions for the applicant? [none] Do we have 
any public comments for this one, that we know of?  

Ms. Hayhow: No one signed up, and the people sitting in here are part of the applicant’s family.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, very good. We don’t have any public, so we’re not going to do public comments. 
Discussion of the application by the Zoning Board, or does somebody want to make a –  

Mr. Deters: I was going to…How long did we do for Kirby? Do you remember?   

Chairman Shafer: I believe it was 20, wasn’t it?  

Ms. Atwell: Twenty or 25.  

Mr. Wolf: It was 20.  

Mr. Deters: Okay, then I was going to propose a motion to that effect, unless there’s more discussion.  

Ms. Atwell: No, I think that’s a good idea.  

 Chairman Shafer: Okay.  

Mr. Hutchins: At least, that is my only thing.  

Chairman Shafer: What’s that?  

Mr. Hutchins: At least 20.  

Ms. Hayhow: I don’t believe we’ve ever done one longer than 20, if that helps.  

Mr. Deters: I remember we had some trouble with the 20 with him, but I don’t think that became an issue 
later. I think it’s going to fall within the general scope of what’s going to be happening here.  

Chairman Shafer: Do you want to make a motion?  

Motion by Mr. Deters, seconded by Ms. Atwell, to approve Application Nos. SW 20-59-REZ, 20-60-FDP, 
rezoning, Final Development Plan, replat, to approve the change of zoning from RUR to PRUR, including 
a minimum infrastructure waiver to allow direct access onto a CARNP-designated arterial for the reasons 
recommended by staff, and to approve the associated final development plan, which shall serve as a 
replat of Lots 3 and 4 of Harlow Farms, for the reasons and stipulations recommended by staff on page 
12 of staff report dated August 19th. 

Motion passes, 6-0.  

Motion by Mr. Deters, seconded by Mr. Hutchins, to approve 20-65-CUP, the Conditional Use Permit for 
an oversized accessory structure for a maximum of 20 years, for the reasons and with the stipulations 
recommended by staff, except for 20 years versus 10 years on number two on page 12.   The reason 
would be because it would be consistent with the recommended use for the planned zoning for the area.  
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Mr. Hutchins: I’ll second that motion. I don’t foresee that building falling down or anything.  

Motion passes, 6-0.  

Chairman Shafer: Do we have a date?  

Ms. Hayhow: Yes. Your recommendation will go to the Board of County Commissioners on October 1st, 
at 9:30 a.m. in this room. I’ve heard the reasons for the longer term is that it is consistent with the planned 
zoning and it appears to be well-built and has been there for 34 years.  

Mr. Hutchins: For 34 years. That sounds like what I said.  

Ms. Hayhow: Okay, thank you.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you, Harlows. Appreciate it. Have a good night.  

Kirk Harlow: Thank you.  

Mr. Pendley: I’ll bring the next application.  

B. Application Nos. SW 20-61-REZ, 20-62-PP, and 20-63-FP (GA) Rezoning, Preliminary Plat, 
and Final Plat – 21000 Clare Road 
 Payne & Brockway, applicant, and Ron E. and Ruth E. Goff, landowners, requesting rezoning from 
RUR, Rural District, to RLD, Residential Low Density District; and Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, 
for 1 residential lot (Big Sky Acres), on 3.8 acres, in Section 17, Township 15, Range 23. 

Mr. Pendley: Good evening, Sean Pendley of the Planning Department, presenting this application for 
rezoning, Preliminary and Final Plat for Big Sky Acres. I’d like to enter the staff report dated August 26, 

2020 into the record. The proposed application consists of a rezoning from RUR district to RLD, 
Residential Low Density, and Preliminary and Final Plat for one residential lot, known as Big Sky Acres. 
The subject property is located at 21000 Clare Road. This is a map that shows the location here. This is 
a little more detailed site plan that shows the current situation. A little bit of the history of this property, to 
explain the application. The property was previously part of an approved tract split. In 1994, that created 
two 10-acre parcels from what was previously a 20-acre parcel. At that time, that was a legal lot split for 
the property in question.  

The subject property is located on the south half of this, as identified in the blue. This parcel is 3.8 acres, 
and it was created by an illegal division of the 10-acre parcel that was approved in 1994. Prior to the 
current owner of the property having this, it was created, and there was an illegal split, so it is essentially 
an illegal lot today, so it is ineligible for a building permit. The owner wasn’t made aware of this until they 
were going to sell the property. At that time, they were made aware that this was not eligible for a building 
permit; therefore, they needed to correct that situation with the property. They looked at various options 
for combining with the property to the west, but now that is in separate ownership, so that is a part of the 
confusion,  and the relief that the applicant is requesting at this time, is to essentially create or approve 
the existing lot as it is today, for 3.8 acres. That is the east half of the property. The west half that is the 
5.8-acre parcel to the west, and it is under separate ownership. That has transferred and changed hands 
over the years as well. As indicated, the current owner purchased this property in 1996, shortly after the 
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home was constructed and after,  and subsequent to, the illegal split. The applicant is requesting a 
rezoning and Preliminary and Final Plat to be essentially approved for the lot as it is today.  

Neither the rezoning to an RLD district or a Preliminary and Final Plat meet the Subdivision Regulations, 
so the applicant will be requesting relief from those in the way of plat exceptions. In meeting with the 
applicant, initially, because the minimum lot size for the RUR district is 10 acres, with the existing 3.8 acres 
they don’t meet that, so the initial recommendation from staff was they could request a rezoning to RLD, 
the low density, which allow a lot size as small as 3.8 acres. However, our Zoning and Subdivision 
Regulations don’t support that, so staff had indicated the we would not support that. In addition, the 
Preliminary and Final Plat would not meet the Subdivision Regulations due to minimum infrastructure 
waivers. There would actually be five minimum infrastructure waivers required to approve the rezoning. 
Staff had indicated following that application that we would not support the rezoning.  

However, in looking at the Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, we understand that the applicant has no other 
option to approve this without a plat exception and/or to combine with another property. Since they don’t 
have control over the other properties, there really is no other option. In looking at the Regulations further, 
staff reviewed this and realized that this lot size of 3.8 acres is compatible with some of the surrounding 
properties, as I’ll show here. I’ll cut to this last slide that shows the surrounding properties to the south and 
some to the east, which are below the 10 acres, but they are all in the current RUR district. This may not 
be visible here, but for that reason, staff had determined that, with a plat exception, staff could recommend 
approval of the Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, as noted in the staff report. However, for the zoning, again 
for RUR district, staff would not support that zoning as proposed, because there are a number of reasons 
why that would be in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. The zoning could considered spot zoning. If 
we zoned one property to an RLD in this area, it’s inconsistent with the surrounding properties, and that 
would not be in keeping with the rural traditional policy area for the Comprehensive Plan. For that reason, 
staff would not support that zoning. However, again, for the plat, there’s a plat exception that would be 
required for creation of 3.8 acres. Because this is compatible with the neighborhood and surrounding 
properties and would not be a conflict in that regard, staff would recommend approval with the plat 
exception as noted in the staff report. 

There is another issue I did want to mention, in terms of stipulations for some of the plat requirements. 
There is a stipulation, for which I handed out a recommended change. In reviewing this further, for one of 
the requirements for the plat, it could be considered with a new lot, would be considered a development 
project. A normal subdivision such as this would be subject to a park dedication requirement or a fee in 
lieu of a dedication. However, in reviewing this, staff has made the determination that this application for 
the plat would not be considered a development project. It’s not creating any new development. The 
applicant is not proposing any new structures. They’re essentially trying to get this platting to allow for 
sale, and for that reason, staff determined that this would not be considered a development project, and 
should not be subject to the park fee. Therefore, staff would recommend a revision to stipulation 2.a. to 
revise the plat note to indicate that the plat is not considered a development project according to the review 
and determination by the Zoning Administrator, and therefore, is not subject to a fee in lieu of park 
dedication in accordance with the requirements of Johnson County Resolution No. 046-94. That’s included 
in the change that staff would recommend for the motions.  
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As indicated, staff does recommend denial of the rezoning for the reasons noted in the staff report and 
does recommend approval of the Preliminary and Final Plat with plat exceptions, for the reasons noted in 
the staff report. That concludes staff’s presentation. I’d be happy to answer any questions. Also, the 
applicant, Todd Allenbrand with Payne and Brockway is here for presentation or questions. The owners 
are not available this evening. Ron and Ruth Goff are not available for the meeting in person, but Todd 
Allenbrand will be representing them.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you, Mr. Pendley. I have a question. I’m curious. Back in, I think you said ’94 or 
’95, did that fall on the County that they did not catch the illegal split?  

Mr. Pendley: The way I understand it – maybe Pamela can help me answer this question – but the way I 
understand it is splits such as this can be recorded at any time. The property owner can record a deed at 
any time for a split. If they’re not coming in for a building permit, staff would not know about this situation 
until somebody is coming for development. So, unless a property owner were to make intention to staff 
that they’re re-platting or they’re doing a lot split or something for the purposes of development, we don’t 
know and we can’t require owners to go through that process. They can record a deed at any time for a 
split. That’s what happened in this case. Prior to the current owners acquiring the property, the previous 
owner split the property, recorded it, and that is the reason why the situation is what it is today.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you.  

Mr. Wolf: Is there any known access easement to that subject property back to the back?  

Mr. Pendley: There is no access easement to that property. It’s a good question and something I should 
have mentioned in my presentation. That property will remain ineligible or will remain an illegal lot, 
ineligible for development. However, there could be access. I may have a graph of that, Pamela, and I’ll 
put together these graphics that show this a little bit better. Essentially, to the south – and maybe the plat 
drawing shows this – there is a street to the south, 210th Terrace, where the current owner is actually the 
property owner at the very end of that street, the far west end. If and when that landlocked parcel is 
proposed – if there ever is a proposal for development – they could gain access to the south to 210th 
Terrace. That’s where staff would recommend…So, if and when this parcel, the 5.8-acre that’s not part of 
this plat, if that were ever proposed for development, we would recommend and require access to the 
south. Now, it could be sold off separately. Currently, that adjacent owner to the south and west is just 
using this for pasture land. They own this, and it’s combined. If, for whatever reason, again, they would 
recommend splitting that or subdividing or using it for a separate development, at that time, staff would 
recommend a plat to allow that, and would require access to the south. There are options for access. That 
would have to be determined separately, because this owner of this subject property has no control over 
that now. We couldn’t correct that with this application, but if and when the other property is developed in 
the future, we’d require some kind of access.  

Chairman Shafer: Any other questions?  

Mr. Deters: I have a questions. Basically, the intent is to sell the property?  

Mr. Pendley: Correct.  
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Mr. Deters: And, they are unable to do that as is, unless there is a Preliminary and Final Plat to approve, 
or it’s changed to an RLD. So, solving one and/or the other would solve the problem, correct?  

Mr. Pendley: That is correct, and it would be not necessarily completely accurate to say they can’t sell it. 
They could sell it, but they couldn’t make it as marketable as to sell it as a legal lot. That’s where they’re 
kind of stuck, because some prospective buyers had been looking at this and realized, “If I can’t get a 
building permit for, say, an accessory building if I want to build something, I’m not going to buy this.” There 
have been other prospective owners who have looked at this, and they have failed to continue with the 
contract. So, yes, to make it a legal lot, the only way would be to either plat it and/or re-zone. Either way, 
they would have to plat it, for sure. A plat would need to be approved to make it a legal lot. If the zoning 
were not approved, it could still be considered a legal lot, if a plat is approved. That’s why staff would 
recommend denial of the zoning. We kind of changed our course on this a little bit. We would not support 
the zoning, but be would recommend approval of the plat, with an exception.  

Mr. Deters: And that solves the problem.  

Ms. Hayhow: Right, and the administrative split that occurred back in ’94 took the one-time administrative 
division, so any further division of this 10 acres or the other one has to be through a plat.  

Mr. Hutchins: Who is the person that owns the property to the west? The individual that divided the 
property illegally?  

Ms. Hayhow: No, it’s –  

Mr. Hutchins: So, essentially, they could be a victim of the process as well?  

Ms. Hayhow: Right now that 5.8-acre property is also ineligible for a building permit. It can stay that way 
as pasture forever, if the owner likes it that way. He also owns the two Certificate of Survey lots on the 
end of that cul-de-sac, so he has adjacent property. Unless he wants to build on it –  

Mr. Hutchins: Okay.  

Ms. Atwell: He owns the two, both of them?  

Ms. Hayhow: He owns both lots on the end. They’re stacked, north and south.  

Chairman Shafer: Any other questions? I know you said the owners are not here, but the representative 
is. You may make a presentation if you would like.   

Todd Allenbrand, Payne and Brockway, 426 South Kansas Ave., appeared before the Board and made 
the following comments:  

Mr. Allenbrand: I’m representing the Goffs, and we are in agreement with the staff report. It sounds kind 
of strange to be in agreement with a denial for rezoning, but after discussion with staff, we understand 
the process and that the Goffs will get to where they need to be and want to be when the plat is approved 
and through, so we’re supportive of the staff report. If you guys have any questions, I can answer. I know 
the Goffs are very eager to get this process done, so they can move forward.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you. Do the board members have any questions for Mr. Allenbrand? None 
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noted. Thank you, sir. We will go public hearing.  

Mr. Pendley: No one has signed up to speak for this item.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay. Do we want to have any kind of discussion on this? I’m with you. They’re trying 
to fix the issue here, so –  

Mr. Hutchins: Just so we’re aware of this. We recognize, as a planning and development commission 
that we’ve had these problems. What we want to do is figure out, number one, how to stop the bleeding, 
and number two, give some latitude to staff to actually help cure these problems that we knew we had, 
for the ones that did not actually do the illegal lot split. That’s why it’s important for me to understand 
who actually performed the lot split.  

I compliment staff, number one, for catching it and informing it. The process that we put in place to stop 
the bleeding was we educated the realtors that they had to go through this process, and then they would 
have to disclose whether or not it was legal or illegal to bring it to this process to where we could make 
it “legal,” so the next person who took ownership wouldn’t experience this pain. I appreciate your efforts 
that you guys put forth here, and obviously with that, putting the process in place. It appears to be 
working, and I would definitely support going ahead and approving this.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay. Thank you for that information. I wasn’t aware how that all played out. Thank 
you. Anyone have a motion for approval? I think everybody got a copy of the suggested Zoning Board 
motion.  

Motion by Mr. Hutchins, seconded by Mr. Deters, to approve the Preliminary and Final Plat and the plat 
exception to allow 3.88 acre size in the Rural district instead of the required minimum 10 acre size for 
the reasons recommended by staff and with the following revisions: Stipulation 2.a. This plat is not 
considered to be a development project according to the review and determination by the Zoning 
Administrator, and therefore is not subject to a fee in lieu of park dedication in accordance with the 
requirements of Johnson County Resolution No. 046-94 for Application No SW 20-61-REZ, 20-62-PP, 
and 20-63-FP. 

Mr. Pendley: I just wanted to make known, too, there was the first part that we also need to make a 
motion, on the zoning, as well. Make sure we –  

Mr. Hutchins: Are they not two different - ?  

Mr. Pendley: Yeah, we want to make sure that there would be a second motion for that as well.  

Motion by Mr. Hutchins, seconded by Mr. Deters, for Application No. SW 20-61-REZONING, 20-62-PP, 
and 20-63-FP, to deny the rezoning for the subject property from RUR, Rural District, to RLD, Residential 
Low Density District and denial of the prior requested waivers from the minimum infrastructure 
requirements for the reasons and with the stipulations recommended by staff.  

The first motion passed, 6-0.  

The second motion passed, 6-0.  
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Chairman Shafer: Do we have a date for that, Mr. Pendley? 

Mr. Pendley: Yes, this case will be scheduled the Board of County Commissioners meeting on October 
1st at 9:30, here in this Board Meeting Room, 111 South Cherry Street, Olathe, Kansas.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you.  

[Ms. Atwell left the meeting.] 

C.  Application No. SW 20-67-CUP – Conditional Use Permit Renewal – 35753 W. 146th Street  
Jeremy Lee Toynbee, applicant/landowner, requesting Conditional Use Permit Renewal to 
operate a haunted house/stage performance venue, (Toynbee House of Horrors) on 5 acres, 
in Section 5, Township 14, Range 22, on property zoned RN1, Residential Neighborhood 1 
District.  

Chairman Shafer: Ms. Wicklund, did you have some updated information to provide the Board. Mr. 
Pendley?  

Mr. Pendley: I did make a note that we were made aware this afternoon that some of the neighboring 
property owners may have been misinformed, or may have been aware that this meeting was also 
available on Zoom Webinar as we have held some of our previous meetings. Although the notice went 
out properly, and it stated that the meeting would be held in person here at this location, at this time. 
There was also additional signage that said, if necessary, the meeting would be available on Zoom 
Webinar, held virtually. There may have been some confusion for some of the neighbors, that this was 
an option, that they could also just watch and participate on Zoom. That’s not the case. Because of the 
technology that we have set up at this time, we were not able to do that, so it’s an in-person meeting. 

Because of that, staff will be recommending a continuance of this case following the presentation. We 
want to go through this public hearing. We will hold our public hearing here this evening. We would 
recommend at the conclusion of this public testimony tonight that we continue this case to allow for a 
special meeting on Zoom for this particular case before a recommendation is made by the Board. That’s 
what staff would recommend. So, we’ll have staff presentation and then accept any public testimony this 
evening. We would also recommend, just in the event that there are any other residents that didn’t plan 
on being here, that they have an opportunity at the special meeting.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you. Does the Board have any questions of Mr. Pendley?  

Mr. Deters: How does it state on the application as it was posted?  

Mr. Pendley: From the legal note and in the property owner notice that went out, it’s stated – actually, 
two separate items – for the legal public notice it’s stated that the meeting would be held at this location, 
in person. In addition, there was an option, if necessary, “Please note that this meeting may be changed 
to a Zoom Webinar, if necessary due to COVID orders.” It was staff’s determination, since at this time 
we are able to meet in the building with restrictions for social distancing, just as the Board of County 
Commissioners do, we have the ability to meet in person, and we felt that it was appropriate to still keep 
that meeting and would not need to do Zoom. However, I think there was some confusion. Some may 
have taken it that there would be both, an option to attend or participating online I think that may be the 
confusion. Because of this case, we know that some residents have been reaching out to us, and as 
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you’ll hear from the staff presentation, we have received some comments from the public. Because of 
that reason, we felt it may be appropriate to have another special meeting to consider those additional 
testimonies. That will certainly be up to the Board to consider and make a motion. You can either move 
forward as is with this meeting, as noted, or you can consider that other option if you feel that there are 
other people that would want to participate, so that’s where we are at this point.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you. I think we need to go ahead and hear the presentation first, and 
then we can decide.  

Mr. Pendley: I think that would be appropriate.  

Ms. Wicklund: I’m going to do this presentation. Just a quick note, Teri Atwell left. She is recusing herself, 
because she is within 1000 feet of this subject property. Just to note that there are still five Zoning Board 
members here and present, so we still have a quorum. Just to put that into the record. I would like to 
enter into the record the staff report dated August 19, 2020. I’m going to show some pictures, maybe, 
but I’m going to read in these two emails from neighbors that we got, first. I’m going to sit down and read 
that, and then I’ll show you a few pictures. The first email is from Scott Atwell. It’s dated August 24, 2020. 
This will be put into the public record and will be shared with the Board of County Commissioners as 
well:  

Dear Diane Wicklund, We received your letter regarding Mr. Toynbee’s application for a 
Conditional Use Permit. My wife and I have lived at 35260 West 146th Street for the past 26 
years. We are the first house west of Dillie Road, on the north side of 146th. Even though I don’t 
recall ever meeting Mr. Toynbee, I’m sure he is a decent person. That aside, my concerns are, 
for the past two years, they’ve been operating, we get more and more traffic on our dead-end 
gravel road, which in turn generates more road dust. The posted speed limit is 30 miles per hour, 
but apparently that means very little. Some folks, upon leaving the haunted facility at night, have 
failed to stop at the stop sign at Dillie Road, only to flip their vehicle on the other side. So far 
we’ve been lucky and no other motorists were on Dillie Road. Johnson County Public Works 
have put up a left/right directional sign at that T intersection to warn drivers traveling eastbound 
on 146th Street. The other concern is that we regularly pick up discarded liquor bottles and beer 
bottles and cans in our front yard during their hours of operation. We don’t have that problem 
after Halloween is over, and they close up shop. Those are our main concerns. We live just far 
enough east of them that we really don’t hear any noise from their facility while we are in our 
house. Thank you for the opportunity to email you. Respectfully, Scott Atwell. 

That’s the first email. The second email is from Jeff Sapp, date August 26, 2020:  

I’m writing to address the notification I received regarding the permit for Toynbee House of 
Horrors renewal. With the event less than 100 feet from my family room as well as my bedroom, 
I must admit the noise and lights can be annoying during the event. With that said, they do a 
good job of adhering to the closing times, and with it being only three weekends a year, it’s mostly 
tolerable. My concerns lie with the patrons and the workers for the event. The patron traffic is 
quite excessive and some night consists of reckless driving and a significant amount of trash in 
the yards along the street. I have also experienced a number of reckless driving and road rage 
incidents with the workers during previous years. I had a one run a stop sign at about 50 miles 
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per hour right in front of me at an intersection a couple of blocks from the house. I was then 
behind him as he drove to the event, arriving prior to its start. I then saw the vehicle there every 
night afterwards, confirming he was working the event. Another incident involved a worker who 
drove up from behind on our road about two lots away from my driveway and only three lots 
away from his destination. As I continued to drive slowly on the gravel to my lot, he decided I 
was not going fast enough. He actually attempted to pass me on the gravel road two lots from 
his destination. I moved to the center of the road to prevent this. As we got even closer to my lot, 
as I pulled into my driveway, he stopped, and some unnecessary words were exchanged.  

While the event may not be able to control what the patrons do on our road, I think they could do 
a better job of promoting respect for the neighborhood and maybe even run up and down the 
road every morning afterwards, collecting trash as a goodwill gesture. As far as the workers are 
concerned, I definitely believe there can and should be something done to ensure they show 
some consideration for the neighbors that are having to experience the same increase in traffic 
for this short time. I appreciate being able to share our concerns and hope that arrangements 
can be made to make it work for everyone involved. Jeff.  

You have paper copies of those emails on your chair. I’m going to just briefly go through the staff report, 
and then I can share some pictures. Does everybody have their staff report in front of them? So, you’ve 
got the pictures here. This applicant is requesting a renewal. This is at 35753 West 146th Street. It’s a 
request for a renewal for a Conditional Use Permit for a haunted house. The property is zoned RN1 
Residential, five acres in size, and there’s a single-family home on the property and then one detached 
accessory structure, which is the barn. You can see that on the picture up on the screen. That’s where 
the haunted house takes place, inside that barn.  

The original CUP was approved by the Board in December of 2016, and it had a three-year term. In 
December of last year, 2019, was when that expired, so they are here to ask for a renewal for that CUP. 
There was a narrative attached in your staff report, and the site plan. In the narrative, they talk about 
having the haunted house open to the public less than a total of three hours each year. The specific 
days open will vary a little bit, but it would during the month of October, obviously, and then the hours 
are 7:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. The applicant also stated that they expect to admit approximately 1,000 
guests per year over the course of those nights that they are open. Parking is provided on the grass 
area, in front of the barn, between the barn and the street. The haunted house operates with about 20 
to 30 staff per night, with 5 to 10 of those staff operating outside of the structure and the rest rotating 
within the building. There’s a portable restroom onsite. The applicant is requesting a five-year renewal.  

Scroll down to page three. That’s just an area here, you can see, where the haunted house is. That’s 
146th Street, so that’s the dead-end road there. I’m just going to get into the details of the Golden Criteria. 
There is no issue or concerns with the existing infrastructure that’s around. It continues to be adequate 
for the haunted house. The first Golden criteria talks about whether the use would be consistent with the 
zoning and uses of nearby properties. You can see, the lot is in the middle of this subdivision along 146th 
Street. The subject property, you can see that in the blue outline. This is just an eight- to ten-lot 
subdivision. The zoning and uses of nearby have not changed over the last three years, except there 
was a new residential subdivision just with five lots, all over 10 acres. That was up at the corner of 143rd 
and Dillie Road, so not real close by. That’s really the only change in the area over the last three years. 
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There are eight houses between Dillie Road and the subject property, which can be impacted by this 
use. The very limited, temporary and seasonal nature of the haunted house, for example, no more than 
30 hours each year, reduces those long-term impacts to the nearby properties.  

The character of the area, obviously, is residential. It’s got the houses on both sides, but because it is 
such a short duration, it does help reduce any long-term impacts in compatibility with the surrounding 
neighborhood. Furthermore, the Planning Department to date, until today, has not received any 
complaints about the haunted house over the last three years, which for staff, we were thinking indicated 
that the seasonal use continued to be compatible with the neighborhood, or at least wasn’t having any 
significant detrimental effects. Really, those potential effects for the nearby homes are noise, dust and 
traffic, really, so there is a recommended stipulation that we’ve had in there in the past about noise and 
decibel level. There is a dust control stipulation that we can talk about in a minute. That’s really why staff 
was thinking that it’s still compatible. In addition, the applicant has been in continual compliance with the 
approved stipulations from their current CUP. Just to note, when we talk about the gain to public health 
and safety, the public gain to denying this CUP renewal would be just maintaining the residential 
character of the area and avoiding any detrimental effects to nearby parcels. Denial of the applicant 
would preclude the haunted house CUP, but the landowner would still have economic viability, since his 
home is, obviously, on the property.  

Then, we move in on page seven of the staff report talking about the building and fire requirements. The 
quick summary of that is that they have been in compliance with building and fire requirements. They 
hired a fire protection engineer to put together a plan. That plan has been adhered to. We have had 
building code inspections before they opened the last few years. Anoush Fardipour, who is the Building 
Official – I don’t know if everybody remembers Anoush over there – he is here patiently waiting in case 
you have questions specifically about building and fire code requirements. Anoush can answer those 
better than I can.  

I think I’m just going to stop there. Anoush also had a memo that is in the back of the staff report, along 
with the site plan and the narrative. I think I’m going to stop there for now and see if you have questions. 
Then, see what the Board wants to do, and then I can maybe point out some of these specific 
stipulations. Some of them are carryover from last time, but I think I’ll stop there for now.  

Chairman Shafer: I do have a couple of questions. I do recall hearing this back in 2016. To get a CUP 
back then, I believe you wanted to move, maybe, into Olathe, and things at that time didn’t work out for 
him. I guess my question is upfront, it looks like we have one from Mr. Atwell about road dust. Living on 
a gravel road, I know how bad dust can get, especially when roads are closed or there’s more traffic up 
and down the road. You have in here, somewhere…on page nine, recommendation number 3, “ Dust is 
a common complaint on gravel roads. If Staff determines that excessive dust is being created by traffic 
associated with the proposed use, the applicant will be required to apply dust control measures for 146th 
Street.” Is that all of 146th Street, or just from Dillie down to his residence, I’m assuming?  

Ms. Wicklund: Well, you read the stipulation out loud. No, right now, it’s not a requirement. It just says if 
staff determines that it’s excessive, if we get a phone call or whatever, then Planning staff and Public 
Works would take a look at it and see if we would determine if dust control needs to happen or not. I 
don’t know if we necessarily got into that detail or not. We had this stipulation before, in the first CUP. It 
was much longer, if you remember. We sliced it down, just to kind of make it a little bit more simple. I 



Southwest Consolidated Zoning Board Page 14 August 26, 2020 

don’t even think in that stipulation we answered the question that you have. I don’t know. If people go 
around and don’t turn right going out and they happen to go left, and they have to turn around, then…I 
don’t know.  

Chairman Shafer: That’s okay. That’s something we can figure out.  

Ms. Wicklund: I would think it would, obviously, be at least to the subject property. I don’t know if we 
would recommend going down to the turnaround or not. I guess it would depend on if we knew…I think 
most people just turn around and go out.  

Chairman Shafer: Yeah, thank you, Ms. Wicklund. The other question I have is, since he has received 
since 2016, has there been any complaints that we know of?  

Ms. Wicklund: Not except for the two that we received today.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you. Board members have any questions for Planning staff? So, Ms. 
Wicklund, did you say that we need to go ahead and discuss and decide if we want to continue this, or 
would we give opportunity to the applicant to do a presentation?  

Mr. Pendley: I would recommend we continue on with the regular public hearing and we allow the 
applicant to speak. We’re not aware of any other public who signed up to speak this evening, but I want 
to make sure they have an opportunity.  

Ms. Wicklund: There is one.  

Mr. Pendley: If there is one person, we’d definitely like the opportunity to have anybody provide 
testimony this evening, and then our recommendation would be – although it would be up to the Board 
to decide – but I think it would be best to allow the applicant to speak and anyone who did show up 
tonight.  

Ms. Wicklund: And, if you have questions for Anoush, he is here as well.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, very good. We will go ahead and allow the application to provide a presentation 
if it would like. Mr. Jeremy Toynbee.  

Samantha Caldwell, 8432 Kessler, Overland Park, Kansas, 66212, appeared before the Board and 
made the following comments:  

Ms. Caldwell: I was here the last time doing this when they went through this a few years ago. I’m the 
Operations Manager for the haunted house. My brother, Jeremy, and his wife, obviously, are the owners 
and live on the residential house on the property as well. I handle this stuff, so I will be the one that 
answers any questions that you might have going forward. I just wanted to give sort of a brief summary. 
Diane touched on most of it, but we did open for the first time in 2014 for Halloween only, two nights in 
2015, and then at that point, we were contacted after that year from Diane saying, “Hey, we have been 
aware that you guys are doing this. There is a process that we need to go through.” So, basically, starting 
in 2016 is when we started this journey. Did the CUP and all of that in 2016, got everything approved, 
and then we’ve had additional conversations with Planning, Codes, Fire, over all of this time, mainly in 
2018.  
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We actually hired an architect, a structural engineer and a fire protection engineer to come into the 
space, make sure that it was safe and that we were able to reasonably accommodate the Fire Code. I 
know we’ve talked about sprinklers, and in a pole barn that was not a possibility, so we do have fire 
watch implemented onsite every night, a manned pumper truck with fire fighters. We have fire 
extinguishers in every room. We have smoke detectors in every room. Every side of the barn opens. 
We’ve created as safe a location as we can, which is always the top concern that we have, is making 
sure that when people are inside, we’re responsible for them. We want to make sure that we do 
everything we can to make it safe. I think, after many years of working with Anoush, I think we have 
finally gotten to a point where we’re all comfortable. It may not be ideal, but at least we’re comfortable 
with the measures that we have in place. I think that the safety concern has been fairly well mitigated.  

As far as the neighbors, this is the first that we’ve had complaints since day one out there. Like I said, 
the first year, opened in 2014 Before the CUP last time, we went around and talked to the neighbors. 
No one had a single negative thing to say. Most people said, “I didn’t even know you were doing this. If 
you wouldn’t have come here and if I wouldn’t have had the letter, I would have had no idea it was even 
going on.” It’s not surprising to a certain degree that now, after this many years, there would be 
somebody having concerns that we just didn’t know about. Nothing has been brought to our attention 
directly. The first time we heard of it was this afternoon, when Diane reported those emails to us. We’re 
more than happy to do everything that we can to try to appease the neighbors. I know that there’s some 
talk about trash, and we’ve talked about it, and we’ve said…We don’t see it, but if it’s there, we’re more 
than happy to go around and pick it up. Obviously, it’s probably our people. Not necessarily our staff, 
but when you have increased number of the public coming…They would do it at a stadium. There’s no 
reason why we can’t go up and down the street and pick up the trash as well, take care of the 
neighborhood.  

We haven’t known anything about traffic concerns. We don’t see an increased amount of dust. We’re 
out there building now, all weekend, every weekend. We’re out there, obviously, when the haunt is going 
on. I’m not saying it’s not an issue. Just, nobody has brought it to our attention until right now. Same 
thing with the beer bottles and things like that. We do not allow alcohol on our property. If we see people 
with alcohol, they’re kicked out. I think that kind of falls into the whole thing, if they’re seeing those things 
on other peoples’ property, it’s because we’re not allowing it on ours. We will be more than happy to do 
our best effort to keep the rest of the neighbors happy. We have addressed, I know one of those emails 
talked about a driving interaction with one of our staff members, and we did address one incident that 
we were made aware of, by our staff member. We did address it with him, and told him, “No more.” We 
do plan on addressing that again this year, making sure that our staff is aware, “Residential area. Please 
be respectful. Clean up after yourself. Don’t speak, don’t yell at the neighbors,” and all those kinds of 
things.  

Unfortunately, when it comes to the patrons, there’s only so much we can do, but we have talked about 
putting a statement on our website that does make it very clear that it is a residential area and please 
observe posted speed limits and all that kind of stuff. I don’t know if there’s any other questions that you 
guys have of us. We’ve been through this before. I know we’ve got some of the stipulations taken out 
last time that we felt were a little excessive, and we’ve complied with every other one that we’ve put in 
place so far, so we’re hoping that we can continue on how we’ve been. If you’ve got any questions, I’d 
be happy to answer them for you.  
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Chairman Shafer: I just have one question. On your Conditional Use Permit application you have permit 
length for five years. You guys are hoping that this is going to be the last year?  

Ms. Caldwell: We were really hoping last year was going to be the last year. We’re actually in discussions 
on three different buildings over the past year-and-a-half or so. The last one being, basically, in January 
or February, and then as soon as COVID hit, obviously not a very good time to be making very large 
business purchasing decisions, so we have put a hold on that. Waiting to see what was going to happen 
with COVID, and then at that point it takes us so long to set everything up. We’re still looking for a 
building, but the current economic position being what it is, as soon as we can move, we’re ready to 
move. We just wanted to put in the five-year term to make sure that we’re not wasting time every couple 
of years, rehashing the same song and dance.  

Chairman Shafer: Were there concerns because of COVID?   

Ms. Caldwell: Not necessarily for us. I know one of the stipulations that Diane has put in there is us 
following local and state guidelines, and we do actually have a formal COVID policy that will be posted 
on our website, explaining how we’re addressing it. We’re kind of lucky that in our business, by nature, 
we don’t want to be close to anybody. We’re pushing people through, and they’re walking by very quickly, 
so we’ve said from the start, we already comply, because you’re never next to anybody for longer than 
a couple of seconds at a time, and we’re trying to move you on through, but we are implementing more 
planning procedures and social distancing in lines, and we will be requiring masks and all those kind of 
things. For us, it’s pretty minimal concerns.  

Chairman Shafer: So, when the Fire Department comes out there, I’m assuming, is that a charge?  

Ms. Caldwell: Oh, yes. They’re very expensive, yes.  

Chairman Shafer: I had assumed –  

Ms. Caldwell: But very well worth it. Yes. The Fire Department, they actually tell us every year that they 
fight over who gets to come out. As soon as it gets close…I’m sure it’s overtime, so that’s part of it, but 
it’s a lot of fun. That’s all we ever wanted to do in the first place, was just have fun, give people a place 
to go and let off some steam.  

Chairman Shafer:  Thank you. Any questions from the Board for Ms. Caldwell? Okay, thank you. 
Appreciate it.  

Ms. Caldwell: All right. Thanks a lot. Appreciate it.  

Chairman Shafer: At this time, we’ll go ahead and open up to public comments. You will have three 
minutes or less per individual. Please provide your name and address for the record. We only have one 
here tonight, you said?  

Mr. Pendley: Yes, one.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay. Do we have anybody from the public that would like to make a statement this 
evening?  
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Scott Wedel, 35501 West 146th Street, appeared before the Board and made the following comments:  

Mr. Wedel: If you look at the map up there, see all the trees two lots down, back towards Dillie Road. 
We bought that five acres of trees and built a house there. I don’t have any experience, because we 
moved in at the end of April of this year, so I really don’t have any experience, and I’m not going to do 
any hearsay of what I’ve heard from my neighbors, because a court of law doesn’t allow it, so I’m not 
going to do that. The only concern I have – and it’s been talked about – is the trash. I just don’t want my 
property to get a bunch of beers can or beer bottles, or Powerade’s or whatever. It’s just the trash. I 
mean, dust – we deal with dust every day. We haven’t had rain for 13 days, and it’s going to get dusty. 
If we could do something about the FedEx and the UPS drivers going 50 miles an hour down our street, 
that would be good. But, no, I don’t have any concerns, because I don’t have any experience. Just the 
trash.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you. I appreciate your comments. Don’t forget, if you do have problems 
with speeders, contact the Sheriff’s Office, and they’ll come out there also. 

Mr. Deters:  Says the Sheriff.  

Chairman Shafer: Do we have any other public comments at this time? None noted. At this time, I think 
we need to have a discussion to decide if we want to go ahead and continue this to give an opportunity 
for others. I guess my question for staff is, how far out would this be continued? Because, I don’t want 
to make it a hardship for the applicant.  

Mr. Pendley: Good thought. I’ll let Diane speak to it.  

Ms. Wicklund: I think their opening day is October 16th, and so obviously, we need to have Board of 
County Commissioners approval before they open, in addition to they would have their annual Building 
Permit Inspection that they would need to do before that. Ideally, we need about four weeks for us to 
get the paperwork and then Board of County Commissioners requires that we submit their paperwork 
two weeks in advance. So, I think how this would work if the Zoning Board wants to continue it, is that 
we can set a date and time and confirm that it’s on Zoom. We can do that tonight. In addition, we can 
send a courtesy letter to that 1,000-foot list of the landowners within 1,000 feet. We can do those two 
things as well. It would be scheduled for October 1st right now. In my estimation, if the Board wanted to 
continue it, if you did it sometime next week. We couldn’t do it on September 2nd, because we already 
have another Zoning Board meeting that night. But, I think if it happened next week, I think we could still 
stay on October 1st, I think would be fine. If we go into that week of September 7th, then I think we might 
need to move it back to October 8th. I don’t think that we would want to wait until October 15th to have 
the Board of County Commissioners, obviously, approve it. So, we’ve got a little flexibility there.  

Mr. Deters: I just want to make a comment. If somebody wanted to be here this evening and was not 
able to be here this evening, if we went ahead and moved on this tonight, they would have an option to 
bring it up while at the Board of County Commissioners when they discussed it. Is that correct? Would 
they have time…? I guess it would go before the Board if we did something tonight, and they would still 
be able to express their grievance or concerns then, correct?  

Ms. Wicklund: They could. Now, we don’t necessarily ever send out letters to that 1,000-foot list for the 
BOCC date. We generally just announce that at the public hearing. If they knew that date somehow, 
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yes, the BOCC takes public comment. But, unless we sent out another courtesy letter and told them of 
the BOCC date, which could be a good option. 

Mr. Deters: The reason I’m saying that is because we have a quorum this evening, and I know I would 
not be able to make either one of the two times that you mentioned, so whether or not we’d have a 
quorum at those times, I don’t know.  

Ms. Wicklund: Right.  

Mr. Deters: We do have a quorum this evening. That’s my only concern.  

Mr. Cooper: What were the other dates?  

Ms. Wicklund: I was just saying –  

Mr. Cooper: The 1st or the 3rd.  

Ms. Wicklund: Sometime next week, so I guess it could be Tuesday, September 1st, or Thursday, 
September 3rd, but that’s the eve of Labor Day weekend, so I’m not sure that makes sense.  

Mr. Cooper: Would this be a virtual meeting then?  

Ms. Wicklund: If we would do (crosstalk) 

Mr. Cooper: We are positive on that?  

Mr. Pendley: Yes, it would be a virtual meeting, just as we’ve had other Zoning Board meetings on Zoom 
Webinar. It would be a virtual meeting.  

Ms. Wicklund: Probably same time, maybe 6:00.  

Chairman Shafer: So, I guess the issue would be if Hank cannot make that, we need to have all the 
same members to that virtual meeting that are here currently, and we are right at a quorum, correct, with 
five?  

Mr. Pendley: Correct. So, then we are going to have to –  

Chairman Shafer: To do it all over again.  

Mr. Pendley: Correct. We’d have to have at least one other board member to make a quorum.  

Mr. Wolf: I would not be able to right now. I’m on duty.  

Ms. Wicklund: Is Wednesday evenings better for you all?  

Mr. Deters: I’ll be out of town.  

Ms. Wicklund: Okay, never mind.  

Mr. Wolf: As of next week it would be, but that changes all the time.  
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Chairman Shafer: I get what everybody is saying. Just my opinion here. I just feel that, if there was a 
confusion to some of the citizens, I personally feel that we should wait and give them an opportunity. 
We have one issue with dust. We haven’t had a rain for a long time, and I live on a gravel road, like I 
said. I get it. It’s dusty. Some other things – and I think those can be hashed out. I don’t think that’s going 
to be an issue, but I would like to see us give an opportunity to the citizens in that area.  

Ms. Caldwell: Could I say something really quickly about that?  

Chairman Shafer: Yeah, you can come back up here.  

Ms. Caldwell: I meant to actually mention it while I was up here, and then I just got so carried away.  
Actually, we have a certain element of concern with this mention of people not being able to make it. 
Our concern is that it was really, to us, that Ms. Atwell was the one that mentioned that there were people 
that weren’t aware of the…There isn’t a specific person that made mention to the Planning Department 
or to a specific person involved in our situation. It was just a mention from Ms. Atwell saying that she 
had heard that there may have been some confusion. This is only relevant to us, because we are on a 
timeframe. If we start pushing this back, we’re having to take additional time off of our work and jobs, 
and it’s more time involvement for you guys. Without there being a real concrete somebody. I mean, we 
had two members of the public that got that letter and were able to send an email. We have another 
gentleman that arrived here in person with no confusion. So, I guess our concern would be, if we keep 
pushing this back and pushing this down, then we find ourselves…We’ve tried our best. We’ve got the 
notices out for, I think they’ve been out for three weeks now. Letters were sent out two or three weeks 
ago. To get this notice, literally it was 6:00 when we were told that this notice was made. So, we just 
have an element of concern with how it was presented and possibly how many people this could actually 
impact or be involved. Thank you.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you.  

Mr. Wolf: How long ago was the notices, and how many are in that 1,000-foot?  

Ms. Wicklund: We send out those property owner letters about ten days prior to tonight’s meeting, so…I 
don’t even know what the date is today. The 26th, so my guess is they probably went out on August –  

Ms. Cross: There were 30 letters.  

Ms. Wicklund: So, 30 letters went out, and they probably would have been mailed out August 13th or 
14th.  

Ms. Cross: Thirteenth.  

Ms. Wicklund: Thirteenth.  

Mr. Pendley: I’d also clarify, too, when the legal notice was originally sent, in the paper and the legal 
notice, that included the option…it mentioned in-person, but if necessary it could be changed to a Zoom 
meeting. When the property owner letter went out 10 days ago for that property owner notice, I don’t 
believe there was any mention of a Zoom meeting, if I recall. Is that correct, Diane? The property owner 
letter was that it was an in-person meeting. So we stated what it was. So, I believe the letter that went 
out stated it was in-person.  
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Ms. Wicklund: I think it may have still… 

Ms. Cross: Does he have a property owner letter?  

(crosstalk)  

Ms. Cross: He has a copy.  

Chairman Shafer: I just want to make sure things are consistent, and we don’t have one letter going out 
saying it’s going to be virtual, and another one saying, no, it’s going to be in-person  

Ms. Wicklund: I’m just going to read it real quick, summarize it here. It says –  

Mr. Wedel: Just don’t read my notes.  

Ms. Wicklund: It just says, “Letter to inform you that Jeremy Toynbee is requesting CUP renewal. The 
Southwest Zoning Board will hold a public hearing on this application on August 26, 2020, 6:00 p.m. at 
the Johnson County Admin Building, 111 South Cherry. Please take notice that in the event it becomes 
necessary due to social distancing requirements, to avoid in-person meetings, then the meeting on 
August 26th shall be conducted as an online meeting by medium of Zoom Webinar. If the meeting is held 
online, details and instructions for guiding how the public can participate in the Zoom meeting will be 
posted on the County website one week prior to the August 26th meeting.” Then, we have the Planning 
Department’s home website in the letter, and then we say, “You are encouraged to check the website 
two days prior to the meeting for any updates.” Then, we also continue to say – which is a little abnormal 
here, but we’ve been doing this with COVID – “any person interested in giving comment or testimony, 
contact the Planning Department, either by phone…” We give our phone number, or we have a 
designated email address where people can send in emails. So, that’s the crux of the letter.  

Mr. Deters: In my opinion, that’s pretty cut and dry, as far as what the situation is and –  

Chairman Shafer: I would agree. I think that’s pretty cut and dry. I guess the only question I have – and 
we can discuss this now as a group  to see how we want to proceed, just with the two letters here and 
from the applicant speaking, I believe that they will pick up the trash and all that stuff. Maybe they weren’t 
aware at that time, but they will do that. Again, I keep on coming back to the dust, but I also know that 
that’s pretty expensive to do. That’s why I chose not to do it in front of my house. I don’t know if that’s 
something that the Board thinks is necessary or not.  

Mr. Deters: It’s in the stipulations that if somebody complains, it’s spelled out that as far as if we –  

Chairman Shafer: That the staff will – sorry – staff will handle that.  

Mr. Deters: Sorry about that. It’s spelled out in the stipulations, I think, that there are some complaints 
of dust, then therefore, staff will evaluate it and decide. I assume that…You have to be okay with that.  

Ms. Caldwell: That was clear when we had the discussion last time, was knowing that, should we not 
get snow on Halloween night in a year, that in the event that it becomes excessive or a problem, then 
we will definitely address it.  

Chairman Shafer: We’re praying for rain.  
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Ms. Wicklund: Not to interrupt here, but I’ve got the stipulations. You can look for them. Number three is 
the dust stipulation. It just says, “Dust is a common complaint on gravel roads. If staff determines that 
excessive dust is being created by traffic associated with the proposed use, the applicant will be required 
to apply dust control measures for 146th Street. It’s not requiring it now. If it becomes an issue and our 
office is notified about it, then Planning and Public Works would work with Mr. Toynbee on some kind of 
dust control application and how we would do that.  

Mr. Hutchins: A question for staff, last year there was discussion, and I know there was a budget 
associated with dust control in the county. Do we have a similar policy this year, and is there still a 
budget for such a thing in the county? What options do we have if we forward with some form of dust 
control that the County can help out with the cost?  

Mr. Pendley: I am not aware of any proposal or anything in the budget for Public Works to do that dust 
control in an area like this. I'm not aware of that. That would be something that we would need to 
coordinate with Public Works Department, unless Diane made note of anything. I’m not aware that any 
proposal for the County to do that in this area.  

Chairman Shafer: I would add on to that a little bit, because I got a letter saying, hey, if I want to 
participate in this, if I want dust control, I can pay – I want to say for…I can’t remember how many feet 
in front of my house. I think the County paid a portion and then I had to pay three or four hundred dollars. 
Again, I chose not to, just because my taxes continue to go up.  

Ms. Wicklund: But the applicant probably would be assuming the cost of whatever the application would 
be.  

Mr. Wolf: Do we know what type of dust control would apply to the applicant, because I know for the 
County, they put water out for the day if they’re going to be driving on that. I’m just curious on what 
would apply to the applicant.  

Ms. Wicklund: I think that’s why we left it a little open-ended, because we didn’t want to put a very 
specific thing down. I know in the previous stipulation, it talked about magnesium chloride. Is that right?  

Mr. Deters: I think that’s fine, Diane. I think leaving it open like that, you’re trying to control dust. You 
don’t want to regulate how they control the dust, as long as they control the dust, that’s all it’s after. I 
think leaving it vague to that extent would solve the problem. As long as the problem is solved, it doesn’t 
matter how they solve the problem.  

Chairman Shafer: I agree. Is there any more discussion? I am comfortable, in my opinion, to move 
forward with this.  

Mr. Pendley: I just wanted to add one note. Sorry to mention this now, but Anoush Fardipour did want 
to make note if there was a recommendation to make a recommendation of this application tonight, he 
did want to make a comment regarding the building requirements, so we’d like for an opportunity for him 
to add that comment prior to any action on this item?  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, yes. Are we ready for that?  

Chairman Shafer: Mr. Pendley, what is his last name?  
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Mr. Pendley: Anoush Fardipour, Building Official.  

Mr. Cooper: I should know that. He was my building inspector when I built my house.  

Mr. Deters:  Yeah, you wrote the check, right?  

Mr. Fardipour: Good evening, everybody. I’m pretty involved with this project. They know me very well. 
I would like to emphasize two items for the applicants – and everybody knows about it. This is very 
specific use application of this facility. Actually, they hired a fire protection engineer per our request, and 
even the structure is sound. They recommended very specific items for this specific project, and then 
they have to be inspected on annual basis. Before to operation, our department, the Fire Department, 
they have to inspect that site. That specific recommendation [inaudible] safety. If any deviation from 
those items which was recommended by fire protection engineer, it has to go back to the fire protection 
engineer. If we go out and we see something is different from what it was before, any remodeling, any 
rooms changed, or any egress changes, then he has to go back again, to the drawing board and address 
resolution from the fire protection engineer. These are the ones I wanted to emphasize. Everybody 
knows we are still involved with this. Applicants know about it. This is very important.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay. 

Mr. Fardipour: Thank you.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you. Was there any more discussion by the Board on this, or does somebody 
want to make a motion, or how would you like to proceed?  

Mr. Hutchins: My biggest concern was just making sure that the public had an opportunity to represent 
themselves, and it sounds like the letter was pretty clearly stated, so that was my biggest concern. I 
didn’t want to go forward if someone felt like they didn’t have an opportunity to speak.  

Chairman Shafer: I would agree with that.  

Motion by Mr. Cooper, seconded by Mr. Deters, to approve Application No. SW 20-67-CUP with the 
stipulations on pages 9 and 10, with a five-year term.  

Motion passes, 5-0.  

Ms. Wicklund: This will go to the Board of County Commissioners on October 1st, 9:30 a.m. in this room, 
right here.  

Chairman Shafer: Okay, thank you very much. Thank you, everyone, for being here tonight.   

VI. BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR [none]   

VII. NEW BUSINESS  

Chairman Shafer: I personally really like when staff does the suggested Zoning Board motions. I feel that 
makes it easier. I don’t know what everybody here thinks.  
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Mr. Pendley: That’s good to know. We’ll take that into advisement for all applications. That separate sheet 
for the recommended motions.  

Chairman Shafer: Yeah, or somewhere in there.  

Mr. Pendley: Right. We thought that would be something that staff could provide. We’ve heard that from 
other boards, as well, so we can certainly make an effort to do that.  

Mr. Deters: In the past, staff has put that in the sheet, somewhere towards the end.  

Mr. Pendley: Right. Certainly, it’s something that staff can provide in the future.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you. Any other business?  

Mr. Hutchins: I don’t know if it’s appropriate, I don’t know if I’ve missed the opportunity, but I just want to 
make sure on the application that we just heard, that it is captured that they are going to pick up the trash, 
that they committed to pick up the trash, and that the County will follow up on the dust, just to make sure.  

Mr. Pendley: I don’t remember if that was mentioned as a specific stipulation on the trash. It’s something 
the applicant did note, though. They indicated that they would do that. That’s on the record. That's  
something that will probably come up for discussion at the Board of County Commissioners meeting, I’m 
sure. There was a stipulation for the requirement for the dust control, but the trash, I don’t recall specifically 
how that was worded in there, but the applicant did indicate that they would do that.  

Chairman Shafer: I think a lot of times they have to get a complaint before they’ll send someone. I don’t 
think that they’ll just – and I may be wrong – I just don’t think they’ll send somebody out there.  

Mr. Hutchins:  And they hadn’t for the last five years, until tonight.  

Mr. Cooper:  The eleventh hour.  

Mr. Pendley: Just one more question. For future reference, we know that there may be concerns. This 
obviously is a difficult time, working through the requirements for notice and having in-person meetings, or 
virtual meetings. How does the Board feel about…? We’ve had these before, the meetings on Zoom. I know 
some people have difficulty getting access on the internet. They have technical difficulties with that. How 
does the Board – at least, the Board members that are here this evening – in general, do you have any 
concerns with having a virtual meeting? Or, do you have a preference one or the other? And how did this 
go this evening?  

Chairman Shafer: I personally would rather have the Zoom meetings, just because I can be at home while 
I do it, and I don’t have to travel all the way back up here into Olathe, or stay late from work and then come 
over here. I always have a laptop. It works for me at home. My packet is my phone. It’s been successful for 
Zoom meetings on work or whatever. I’ve had no issues doing that. That’s my opinion.  

Mr. Hutchins: If we could do both, providing the opportunity, that way…It would be the ideal, right?  

Mr. Pendley: That’s an option, actually that some of the…It’s not as easy to do the hybrid meeting. It’s 
technically possible. The reason why we couldn’t do that this evening…We can explore that, by the way. 
That was something that we knew that there was at least one of the Board members that couldn’t attend. 
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We looked into the option. If we did that, we would actually have to have that over in the conference room, 
That room is set up with the audio, technology, that would allow everyone to hear what somebody on Zoom 
is saying. Otherwise, if we had one person joining us here tonight on Zoom, there would have been difficulty 
in them hearing us and us hearing them. So, we did look at that. It’s an option. It is not as easy, but it is an 
option for a hybrid as well. We’d recommend probably one or the other initially, unless we knew that there 
was somebody that had a problem, and then we’d try to make arrangements for that hybrid meeting.  

Mr. Hutchins: Is a simple conference call an option?  

Mr. Pendley: The challenge with that…An audio meeting would only be acceptable in terms of a public 
hearing, the challenge with that, then, is being able to see any graphics, or any documentation that would 
be presented at the meeting. That’s a legal concern if we’re not able to share any information. We could 
read it. We could do that, but if anybody were to ever want to show any site plan, we often make 
arrangements to allow the public or even staff to present that, so everyone can see that, either on the 
computer or an overhead. If we’re audio only, we’d be limited.  

Mr. Wolf: I think it also creates a problem for the public to have their comments, if they are not Zoom-oriented 
or computer savvy.  

Mr. Pendley: Right.  

Mr. Cooper: I think the, I guess, climate/situation we’re in right now with COVD and all this stuff, the hybrid 
meeting would actually be probably your smartest bet. Your in-person people show up when they need to. 
Those that want to stay away and Zoom in, can. I don’t have any problem with having it in another room 
that is conference-capable and all that stuff. I think it’s just a better option, I guess, or an inclusive option.  

Mr. Pendley: Certainly, the staff can continue to explore that. We can work with our DTI staff to see if that’s 
possible. We would make known initially – because we have to determine right away whether an application 
is submitted, we have to the prepare the legal notice, of course, and we have to give every possible option, 
but when it gets down to it, when we’re getting close to the actual meeting notice, it goes out to the property 
owners. We have to specify. We’ll continue to explore that avenue and provide an update to the Board for 
future meetings as to what we will test.  

Chairman Shafer: Thank you.  

Mr. Pendley: Thank you.  

VIII. OTHER BUSINESS  
IX. OLD BUSINESS [None]  
X.  ADJOURNMENT     
Mr. Deters moved to adjourn the meeting. Mr. Cooper seconded the motion.  

Motion passed.  

 Chairman Shafer: All right. Thank you, everyone, for being here.  
Thereupon, with no further business to come before the Johnson County Southwest Consolidated Zoning 
Board, Chairman Shafer, at 7:49 p.m. declared the meeting to be Adjourned. 
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